


PREFACE

EARLY HISTORY
OF ARMY AVIATION

1861 - 1948

First recorded use of army aviation was for observation
of enemy troops by hot air balloons in 1861.

The Army purchased its first airplane in 1909.

During World War II, the Army had 89 balloon

companies and 39 air squadrons.

In June 1942 the Army authorized two aircraft, two
liaison pilots and one mechanic to each Artillery battalion
and higher headquarters.

In 1943 the Army transferred about 2,000 haison pilots
to the Air Corps Commando units.

In 1945 the Army authorized the Cavalry, Infantry,
Engineer, Armor and Tank Destroyer units the same
organic aviation as the Artillery units

In 1946 the Army purchased its first helicopters.

On July 26, 1947, Congress passed the National Secunty
Act that changed the Army Air Corps to the U. S. Air
Force, a separate branch of service.

The Act authorized the Army to create its own aviation
program within ten specified mission assignments, and
with a beginning inventory of only 250 light aircraft.

In February, 1948, Mississippi initiated its first Army
Aviation program at Grenada through the National Guard



FOREWORD

The History of Army Aviation in Mississippi is done in a chronological format from the

beginning of Army Aviation in Mississippi until the end of Fiscal Year 1995 on September 30,
1995.

It is done in six chapters as follows:

Chapter I - The Formative Years - 1948 - 1951

Chapter II - The Korean War Years - 1951 - 1952

Chapter III - Post Korea Reorganization - 1953 - 1959

Chapter IV - The Separate Aviation Company Era - 1959 - 1968
Chapter V - The Separate Aviation Battalion Era - 1968 - 1986
Chapter VI - The Separate Aviation Group Era - 1986 - 1995

The source of materials was from micro film files in the National Guard headquarters,
copies of orders from various individuals and personal interviews with individuals involved in
Army Aviation over the years. There will be some mistakes. Readers are encouraged to make
notes of needed corrections and mail them to the author. It is hoped a revised edition can be
published in 1998 - the 50th anniversary of Army Aviation in Mississippi.

My personal thanks go to all who contributed information, materials and pictures, and my
special thanks to my daughter and son-in-law, Becky and Tom Brown, who pushed me into a
computer and scanner instead of the electric typewriter, which I started out using.

Hugh W. Ketchum
Army Aviator 1948 - 1976
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PREFACE

EARLY HISTORY OF AVIATION AT THE ARMY LLEVEL
1861 - 1948

History records hot air balloons were used during the Civil War to observe
the movement of enemy ground troops. It was on September 25 that the
Army established a Balloon Corps, with Professor Thaddeus S.C. Lowe

as the commanding officer.

The Army purchased its first fixed wing aircraft from the Wright Brothers.

In November the Army first used an aircraft to observe and adjust ar-
tillery fire. At that time the Army had 12 pilots. 39 enlisted men and 12
aircraft.

During World War I the Army utilized 89 Balloon Companies and 39
Air Squadrons.

The War Department estabhshed the Army Air Corps as a separate branch
of the Army on July 2, 1926, with jurisdiction over single and multi-engine
air missions. The Artillery continued to test the use of light aircraft for
artillery fire adjustment missions at Ft Sill, Oklahoma. and during Army-
wide maneuvers. It was during those tests that light aircraft pilots were
dubbed “Grasshopper Pilots" because of the way thev hopped from field to
field and road to road.

As the U.S. became directly involved in World War 11. there was only one
Army Arr Training site, other than the Air Corps programs. It was a Test
Group at Ft Sill - later to be known as the "Class Before Onc" - to train
light aircraft pilots for the Artillery. On June 6. based on the success of
those tests, the War Department authorized organic aviation for Artillery
battalion and higher headquarters. Each HQ was authorized 2 aijeraft.

2 pilots and | mechanic.

Some mulitary historians recognize the Junc 6, 1942 authorization as the
birthdate of Army Aviation.

In August. the Air Corps authonized Post Field at Ft Sill to become the
Department of Air Traming for the Artillery. The facility was authorized
to tran pilots in L4 Piper Cubs, L. 2 Tavlorcrafis. and 1. 3 Acroncas.
The ratio of the tramees was to be 80% “Flyine Serecants” and 20%
officers,



1943

1945

1946

1947

The Air Corps also authorized the acronautical rating of Liaison Pilot and
approved the awarding of Liaison wings for those who completed the
training. The Liaison Pilot wings were the same as those awarded to
graduates of the Air Corps Aviation Cadet program, except an "L"

was on the emblem.

Soon after the training program was approved for Ft Sill, the Air Corps
was directed to supply 100 trained pilots per month to the facility. The
future Liaison Pilots were to come from the Air Corps Glider Training
program, the Air Corps contract Civilian Pilot Traming (CPT) program,
and from the Air Corps Primary Flight Training program.

In order to meet the quota, the Air Corps added primary flight training
programs at Denton, Texas, Pittsburg, Kansas and Sheppard Field in
Witchita Falls, Texas.

In April, the Army changed the format of the Liaison Pilot Training pro-
gram to provide that officers only were eligible to participate. This ruling
caused the Air Corps to disband its Civilian Pilot Training (CPT) program,
which had been supplying “flying sergeants.”

As part of the changes i 1943, the Army allocated some 2,000 Liaison
pilots and most ghder pilots to Air Corps Air Commando Groups. Most
of those pilots served i ltaly, otlier European military actions, and in the
China-Burma-India actions. Other Liaison pilots went to the Artillery.

In August, the War Department officially authorized organic aviation for
Cavalry, Infantry, Engineer, Armor, and Tank Destroyer units on the same
allocation basis as previously allowed the Artillery - two aircraft, two
pilots, and one mechanic per Battalion/Regiment. In December Ft

Sill was redesignated the Army Ground Forces Air Traming School.

There are others who contend the August 1945 authorization of organic
aviation to most ground forces represents the birthdate of Army Aviation.

Also, it was during 1945 that the Army tramned its first helicopter pilots
under contract with the Air Corps at Scott Field, lllinois, Sheppard Field,
Texas, and at the Bell Corporation headquarters.

The Army purchased its first helicopters - 13 YR 13's.

July 26, 1947 15 generally accepted as the begmning of Army Aviation.
On that date Congress passed the National Security Act that changed the
Atr Corps to the U.S. Air Force - a separate branch of service on an equal
level wiath the Army and Navy.



1947

1948

The Act officially gave the Air Force jurisdiction over all single and multi
engine tactical and long range air missions, but allowed the Army to
develop its own Aviation program to provide close support to the ground
troops. The aircraft to be used in the program could not exceed 2,500
pounds for fixed wing planes and 4,000 pounds for helicopters.

Under the Act, the Air Force retained the responsibility to provide
primary flight training. research, design and procurement of aircraft, depot
maintenance, air medical evacuation, transportation of troops, tactical
recon and aerial photography, for both rotary and fixed wing aircraft.

The new law limited the Army Aviation program to the following specified
missions:

~ Surveillance of enemy forward areas

¥ Aerial route reconnaissance

~ Control of march columns

= Camouflage inspection of troop positions

= Local courier services

- Emergency medical and non-medical evacuation
> Wire laying between units

= Limited aerial photography

¥ Limited resupply activities

> Air observation and adjustment of artillery fire

- To carry out the authorized missions, the new Army Aviation program

continued the concept of placing two pilots, two aircraft and one
mechanic under the direct command of battalion/regiment and higher
headquarters units.

From a World War II high of 3,000 Army Air Corps aircraft, the Army
inventory was down to about 250 by mid-1947.

The Army developed an agreement with the Air Corps/Air Force to
provide primary flight training at Gary Air Force Base in San Marcos, Tx.,
and maintenance mechanic training at Keesler AF Base in Biloxi, Miss.

An advanced helicopter school was established at Ft Sill to provide ad-
vanced tactical training to the graduates of the contract rotary wing
training schools. Later in the year Walters Air Force Base in Mineral
Wells, Texas, was added as a primary rotary wing training school.

In February 1948, action was initiated through the National Guard to begin
an Army Aviation program in Mississippi.



Chapter 1

THE FORMATIVE YEARS

1948 - 1951

First Army Aviation Program in Mississippi
established in early 1948 at the Grenada Airport to
serve Artillery units in North Mississippi and
Hattiesburg.

Ten former Army Air Corps pilots comprised the
program by late 1950.

The program had five L 16 Aeroncas, two LS
Stinsons, one L 17 Navion and one L 13 “goony
bird.”

In December, 1950, all personnel and equipment
was ordered to active duty, effective in mid-January,
1951.









Their appointments to the National Guard were approved on March 1, 1948 per the
following Special Order:

HEADQUARTERS
MISSISSIPPINATIONAL GUARD
JACKSON, MISS.

| March 1948
SPECIAL ORDERS
NUMBLER 49

1. The following named candidates, having been examined and found qualificd under Scction 75, National Defense Aet,
are appointed in the Mississippi National Guard, to rank from this date, in the grade, branch, and with organization and position
assignment as follows:

NAME RANK BRANCH ORG ASSMT DUTY ASSMT
THEISMAN, FREDERICK W. 1 Lt FA Hq 31st Div Arty Liaison Pilot
KEETON, BENTON T. 2Lt FA Hgq 114th Fa Bn Liaison Pilot
KETCHUM, HUGH W. 2 Lt FA Hq 932nd FA Bn Liaison Pilot

Position assignments arc to fill original vacancics. These appointments are subject to Federal recognition by the War Dept and
such recognition has been requested from the National Guard Bureau.

BY ORDER OF THE GOVERNOR:

OFFICIAL: WILLIAM P. WILSON
Brig Gen, Miss NG
Adjutant General
HILTON R. VANCE

2 Lt AGD MNG
Asst to the Adj Gen

LT THEISMAN FULL TIME SUPERVISOR

1 Lt Theisman was employed, effective March 1, 1948, as the full time supervisor
of the support facility at the Grenada Airport. An office and a maintenance shop were
located in the hangar, which was shared with the Grenada Municipal Airport, managed by
2 Lt Keeton, and as an armory by A Battery of the 114th Field Artillery Battalion.

Two maintenance technicians, both former Air Corps mechanics, were hired, also
effective March 1, by Lt Theisman. They were Sgts Robert Christopher and Sydney
Perry. Sgt Christopher operated a private aircraft maintenance business in the hangar.

Cpt Jack Langley was assigned to the facility as Mississippi's first Army Advisor
for Aviation.

PROGRAM'S FIRST AIRCRAFT AN L 17

Mississippl’s aviation program reccived its first aircraft during the first week of
March - an L. 17 Navion. Before Cpt Langley could check out the pilots in the aircralt, it
was involved in a crash on the parking ramp of the Grenada Airport on March 10 during a
night mission under moonlight conditions.



Cpt Langley was using the ramp of the airport as a landing site when the atreraft
struck a tow tractor. totaling the aircraft and injuring Sgt Sid Perry, who was manning the
tractor with a light indicating the boundary between the landing site and the main hangar.
Sgt Perry subsequently received a medical discharge as result of njuries to both arms.
Cpt Langley was not seriously njured and was transferred out of state. Meanwhile.

Mississippl's aviation program was without an aircraft until further equipment was
assigned to the facility.

MORE PILOTS RECRUITED

By April 25, three more former Air Corps pilots were recruited - Lts Robert
Barker and Leonard Alford of Grenada and Lt James Reed of Starkville. The six pilots in

the program at the time were ordered to take qualifying check rides by Maj Gene Vinson
of Meridian per the following Special Order:

HEADQUARTERS
MISSISSIPPI NATIONAL GUARD
JACKSON, MISS.

23 April 1948
SPECIAL ORDERS
NUMBIEER 89
2. The following named officers, Miss NG, will report to Major Eugene Vinson, A0384248, AF, Miss ANG. Sr member

of Exam 3d apptd by Par 3 SO 68, Hq Miss NG, dated 26 March 48, at 1230 hours, 25 Apr 48, at the Grenada Municipal Airport.

Grenada, for the purpose of taking tlight cxaminations to determine their fitness for rating of Liaison Pilot in accordance with AF Reg
50-2.9 Oct 47

Ist Lt THEISMAN. Frederick W. 0-814590  FA Hq 31st Div Anty

Ist Lt BARKLER, Robert S. 0-789040  FA Hq 198th Tank Bn
2nd Lt KETCHUM, Hugh W, 0 -840504  FA tHq 932nd FA Bn
2nd Lt KEETON, Benton T. 0-2059537  FA Hq 1'14th FA Bn
Ist Lt REED, James W. 0-2044722  FA Hq 932nd FA Bn
Ist LLALFORD, Wilham L. 0-757146  FA Hq 631st FA Bn

BY ORDER OF THE GOVEERNOR:

OFFICIAL: WILLIAM P. WILSON
Brig Gen Miss NG
Adjutant General

HIETON R VANCI

Ist L AGD. Miss NG

Asstto the Ady Gen

[.t. Reed did not take the thght examination and failed to pursue his requirements
to become a Liaison Pilot. He subscquently resigned from the National Guard in June.
The other {ive officers passed their flight examinations, were designated Liaison Pilots
and assigned to the units noted in the special order above.

Shortly after being approved as a Liaison Pilot for the Mississtppt National Guard.
[t Keeton was seriously injured in a private plane crash.  The mjuries forced him to
resien from the National Guard, leaving the program with only four pilots.









The facility serviced one L. 17 Navion. two 1. 5 Stinsons, onc of which was an
ambulance type aircraft, one L. 13 "Goony Bird", which had a full instrument panel, and
five L 16 Acroncas. The L. 16 was the primary support aircraft for artillery fire
adjustment. The L 17 Navion was used for VIP missions for [Hq Division Artillery and
its two battalions, the 198th Tank Battalion and Hq Detachment in Jackson.

THREE MORE P1LOTS JOINED IN 1950

Two more former World War IT Air Corps pilots - Lt Joel Varner of Senatobia
and Lt Harry Morrow of Vardaman - and former World War II Army Liaison Pilot Lt
James Gentry of Meridian - joined the program in 1950. Lt. Varner was assigned to the
631st Field Artillery Battalion with Lt. Alford; Lt Morrow joined Lt. Raper in the 114th
Field Artillery Battalion; and, Lt Gentry joined Lt. Ketchum in the 932nd Field Artillery
Battalion. Lt. Barker continued with the 198th Tank Battalion, while Cpt Theisman and
Lts. McMasters and Bell continued with Hq Division Artillery.

James Gentry

Harry Morrow Joel Varner

The addition of the new pilots brought the strength up to ten, just one short of the
full authorization at that time of two pilots per authorized unit, plus the Division Artillery
Air Officer.

All of the pilots and supporting personnel trained with their units during annual
field training at Ft McClellan, Ala.. during the summer of 1950 amid rumors that
National Guard troops would be used for combat duty in Korea.

AVIATION UNITS TO ACTIVE DUTY

The 631st Battalion was alerted for active duty even before reporting to summer
field training in August. The unit, including Lts Alford and Varner, and Maintenance
Technician Lansford Marcum. was ordered to Ft Sill.,, Okla.. immediately after
completing annual field training on September 1. Lts Alford and Varner {lew one 1. 16
and one L. 5 from the Grenada support tacility to It Sill.

The remaining pilots in the 31st Division units werce alerted for active duty in
December, with an cffective reporting date of January 16. 1951 at It Jackson. S €. Al
that tme the aviation support factlity in Grenada was disbanded.



ARMY AVIATOR RATING ADOPTED IN 1950

In still another major change in the overall Army Aviation program during 1950,
the Liaison Pilot designation was eliminated. All Liaison Pilots in the program at the
time were redesignated Army Aviators, the aeronautical rating that would be given to all
future graduates ol expanding Army training tacilities.

At the ime the Army adopted the new Army Aviator rating, it also established a
new acronautical badge to replace the Liaison Pilot wings. The new badge resembled
the Air Force wings, except the tip of the wings curled slightly upward and the emblem in
the middle of the wings was more of a modified heart shape. Also, the badge was smaller
than the Air Force wings, but continued to provide for a star over the emblem to indicate
a Senior Army Aviator, and the star circled with a wreath to indicate a Master Army

Aviator. Acronautical wings were also designated for crew members and a flight
surgeon.

Below are pictures of the Laision Pilot wings and the aviator wings approved by
the 1950 change:

“-’o =51 (&
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Army Aviator

Senior Army Aviator Master Army Aviator

MAJOR CHANGES AT ARMY LEVEL 1948 - 1950

ARMY MOVED PRIMARY FLIGHT TRAINING: In early 1949 the Air
Force moved its primary army pilot training program from Gary AF Base in San Marcos,
Tex.. to Connally AF Base in Waco. Tex.. and its maintenance mechanic training to
Keesler AF Base mn Biloxi. Miss.  However, later in the vear the Army was given
authority to train its own ptlots and mechanics for organic awrcraft.  The Air Force
retained its control to train both rotary and fixed wing aircraft pilots and mechanics for
aircraft that were common o both  services.  The Awr Force also continued its
responsibility for rescarch. design and procurement of cquipment.



ARMY HAD L1155 FIXED WING AIRCRAFT: When the Korean War
officially began in June 1950, the Army had 1,155 fixed wing aircraft as compared to
only 250 in mid-1947. They were mostly L 16 Aeroncas, L. 17 Navions and L. 5
Stinsons, but there were some L. 4 Cubs, L 21 Super Cubs and U 8 Twin Beech Bonanzas.
The program’s inventory included only 56 OH 13 Bell helicopters and no cargo
helicopters

ARMY PLANNED TO TRAIN CARGO HELICOPTER COMPANIES: The
Army initiated plans in late 1950 to train five Helicopter Transportation companies to
replace ambulances and trucks for tactical and logistical support in the forward areas of
combat zones. Because of Air Force opposition to any expansion of Army Aviation's
control over close combat tactical and logistical support, and because the Air Force
controlled the procurement of aircraft, the Army was able to begin training only one
Cargo Helicopter Company at Ft Sill, using UH 19 Sikorsky helicopters.

ARMY AVIATION HEEDED CALL

History records that Army Aviation, including the Mississippi program, was
forced to heed a call for combat duty in less than three years after the programs began.
For the Mississippi aviators and supporting personnel it was the second time in less than
a decade that they had to disrupt their personal and business lives to serve their country in
time of war. ' '

THE LAST SUMMER CAMP BEFORE ACTIVE DUTY

Ft McClellan 1950 Summer Camp, Front row, left to right:

—————————— .Bass, Weeks, -----------, Windham, -------------, Charley Moore; Second row,
Raymond Forehand, Trumbo, Hugh Ketchum, -—--oeeeoeeee oo . . Helton, Martin,

Nichols; Third row, Larry Loos, Gilbert Jones, Tommy Bell Robert Barker John Fex,
Brandon, Peterson, Aubrey Bishop, Emmeltt Davis, Schwartz. Rear, Russ While.






CHAPTER 11

THE KOREAN WAR YEARS

1951 - 1952

Alllpilots, mechanics and aircraft reported to Ft. Jackson, S. C.,
in mid-January to two years of active duty during the Korean
War.

All aviators sent to Ft. Sill, Okla., for basic artillery training,

Six of the ten aviators in the original Mississippi program saw
combat duty in 1952. Three of the aviators were sent to Germany
for border patrol duty there. The other aviator in the onginal
program had transferred to the Judge Advocate General branch.

In late 1952 one L 19, one aviator and one mechanic were based
at Hawkins Field in Jackson. All of the original aviators and
mechanics were released from active duty by the end of 1952.



HISTORY OF ARMY AVIATION [N MISSISSIPLY

Chapter II - THE KOREAN WAR YEARS - 1951 - 1952

Since all of the Mississippi units that were authorized organic aviation were called to active duty
for the Korean War, the Grenada Aviation Support Facility was disbanded in January 1951 when all
personnel and equipment accompanied their 31st Division units to Ft. Jackson, South Carolina. The call
to active duty came less than three years after army aviation was organized in Mississippl.

Lts Leonard Alford and Joel Varner had flown one L. 16 Aeronca and one L. 5 Stinson from the
Grenada facility to Ft. Sill, Oklahoma, when the 63Ist Field Artillery Battalion was activated on
September 1, 1950. Sgt. Butch Marcum, one of the full time maintenance technicians at the Grenada
Support Facility, also accompanied the unit to Ft. Sill. The 631st FA Battalion served as "school troops"
at Ft. Sill until it was transferred to Germany in mid-1951.

The remaining aviators who were supported by the Grenada facility ferried four L 16's, one L 5
and one L 17 to Ft. Jackson, South Carolina to join the 3lst Division at its active duty station per 3rd
Army General Order # 512, dated December 18, 1950, with an effective reporting date of 16 January
1951. AnL 13 "Goony Bird" had already been turned back to the U.S. Army.

Upon reporting to Ft. Jackson, Cpt Fred Theisman was assigned as the Division Artillery Air
Officer. Lt. Billy McMasters continued with Hq Division Artillery. Lt. Thomas Bell. who had been
with Hq Division Artillery, transferred to the Judge Advocate General Section. He was replaced in Hq

Division Artillery by Lt. Robert Barker, who had been with the 198th Tank Battalion before the unit was
activated.

Lts. Harry Morrow and Robert Raper continued with the 114th Field Artillery Battalion and Lts.
Hugh Ketchum and James Gentry continued with the 932nd Field Artillery Battalion. Two full time
maintenance technicians, Sgts. Jesse Strider and Homer Taylor, who had accompanied the units to Ft.
Jackson, were assigned to the Hq Division Artillery. The other full time maintenance technicians who
had served at the Grenada Support Facility had resigned before the Division was activated.

All of the Mississippi aviators, who were assigned to artillery units, joined the Alabama aviators
in operating from a common Division airfield at Ft. Jackson. Ltc James Fex of Alabama was the
Division Aviation Officer in charge of the airfield operations and Cpt. Emmett Davis of Alabama was

the Operations Officer. The 3lst Division aviation personnel shared the airfield with the 8th Division.
also headquartered at Ft. Jackson at that time.

AVIATORS UNDERWENT BRANCH TRAINING

Soon after reporting for active duty at Ft. Jackson, the seven 3lst Division aviators from the

original Mississippl program were scnt to IFt. Sill, Oklahoma for Basic Artillery training per the
tollowing letter order from Ft Jackson:



HEADQUARTERS
FORT JACKSON, SOUTH CAROLINA

18 February 1951
EETTER ORDIER
NUMBER B-216

SUBIECT: TRAVEL ORDLEERS
T OFFICERS CONCERNED

1. Fol officers orgn indicated 31st Inf Div WP o/a 30 Jan 51 to Ft Sill, Okla., on TDY for aprx fifteen (15) weeks for the purpose of attending the

Associate Ficld Artiliery Battery Officer Course at the Artillery School, Ft Sill, Okla, 21 Feb 51. Upon completion of TDY rt to proper sta. Three (3)
DDALV auth upon compl of course:

CPT FREDERICK W. THEISMAN, Hq & Hq 31st Div Arty
CPT DELBERT H. WILSON, Hq Btry, 117th FA Bn

ist LT ROBERT S. BARKER, Hq Btry, 31st Div Arty

Ist LT RAYMOND FOREHAND, Hq Btry, 933rd FA Bn
Ist LT ROSCOL B. HALL, HgBtry, 117th FA Bn

Ist Lt GREY W. HARRISON, JR., Hq Btry, 114th IF'A Bn
Ist LT HUGH W. KETCHUM, Hq Btry, 932nd FA Bn

Ist LT WILLIAM C. McMASTERS, Hq 31st Div Arty

2nd LT ROBERT L. RAPER, IR., Hq Btry. 114th FA Bn

2nd LT THOMAS E. BARTON, Biry C, 932nd FA Bn
2nd LT JAMES GRAHAM, Hq Btry, 114th FA Bn

2nd LT JAMES O. GENTRY, Hq Btry, 932nd FA Bn
2nd LT GUY A. GREEN, Hq Btry, ! 14th FA Bn

2nd LT THOMAS H. KELLY, JR,, Btry B, 117th FA Bn
2nd LT HARRY L. MORROW, Hq Btry, 114th FA Bn
2nd LT WILLIAM A. OGGS, Hq Btry, 933rd FA Bn
2nd LT MARLIN D. .RANDLE, Btry A, 932nd FA Bn
2nd LT DALLAS N. VICKERS, Biry B, 933rd FA Bn

BY COMMAND OF MAJOR GENERAL COLLINS:

E. E. EWING

WOJG, ASST ADJ GEN

Upon completing the branch training school, Lt. Raper was enrolled in the Army Flight Training

School, which had been established at Ft Sill. Lt. Gentry was transferred to Ft. Benning, Ga., where he
joined the 41st Field Artillery Battalion, which was serving as “school troops™ at the Infantry Center.
The remaining 31st Division aviators from Mississippi were enrolled in a six-weeks refresher flight
training course in L 21 Super Cubs and L 19 Birddogs per the following Letter Order:

HEADQUARTERS 3IST INFANTRY DIVISION
FORT JACKSON, SOUTH CAROLINA

7 July 1951
LETTER ORDER
NUMBER 731

SUBJECT: TRAVEL ORDERS
TO: OFFICERS CONCERNED

1. Fol Off orgn indicated upon completion of the Associate Iicld Artillery Battery Officer Course, the Artillery School, will remain at Ft Sill on

TDY for apprx four (4) wecks for the purpose of attending the Army Aviation Refresher Course, the Artillery School, rpt 21 June 51. Upon completion of
TDY or unlcss sooner reld by proper authority will rtn to proper sta.:

CPT FREDERICK W. THEISMAN, Hq 31st Arty
{ st LT ROBERT S. BARKER, Hq 31st Div Arty
Ist LT HUGH W. KETCHUM, Hq Btry 932nd FA Bn

Ist LT WILLIAM C. McMASTERS, Hq 31st Div Arty
Ist RUSSELL C. WHITE, Hq Btry 117th FA Bn
2nd LT HARRY L. MORROW, Hq Btry, 114th FA Bn

BY ORDER OF MAJOR GENERAL PAXTON:
CLINTON L. ADAMS
L.t Col AGC, Adjutant General

LLts Leonard Alford and Joel Varner, were still at 't Sill, serving with the 631st Field Artillery

Battalion as school troops. Cpt Jack Langley, who was the first Army Aviation Advisor in Mississippi,
was an instructor at the Air Training Center in Ft Sill at the time.

AVIATORS PARTICIPATED IN READINESS TESTS

During the remaiming months of 1951, the aviators provided aerial support for their units as they
underwent combat readiness tests at It Jackson. Division-wide mancuvers at Camp McCall, N.C., and
arttllery field exercises at I't Gordon, Ga..















HELICOPTER INVENTORY INCREASED: The Army's inventory of cargo helicopters
increased from zero in June 1950 to 85 in 1953, including 72 UH 19's and 13 UH 25's. The mventory
when the fighting ended also included 460 OH 13's and 262 OH 23's.

ARMY AVIATION PROVED ITS WORTH

Although pressed into combat duty in Korea within two years after it was formed, Army
Aviation proved its worth far beyond expectations. In quick order the Army established its own aviation
program to provide trained aerial support to front line ground troops. Under combat conditions, the
aviators served as the "eyes of the Artillery," the original mission of light aircraft, but went much further
to provide wire laying missions, aerial photography, resupply missions, evacuations and served ably in
performing command transportation for front line unit commanders.

Three other valuable missions evolved. One was the evaluation of Air Force bombing, strafing
and napalm missions on front line targets and providing surveillance reports to the Air Force forward
controller in the Division G 2 section. Another was the aerial distribution of propaganda leaflets over
front line enemy forces. It was also under Korean combat conditions that Army Aviators pioneered the
use of helicopters for medical evacuation.

In addition to flying combat missions, Army Aviation performed yeoman services with courier,
VIP transportation and other administrative-type flights that otherwise would have taken many hours to
perform with ground transportation over the rugged Korean road system,

Historians have already recorded that Army Aviation "came of age" during the Korean War.
Most of the aviators in Mississippi's original Aviation program were a part of that "coming of age."
Though the success of aviation in Korea had been established, there was still a question about the
original concept of assigning aviation personnel and equipment under the direct command of unit
commanders of ground units that often would be operating in areas remote from landing sites of the
aircraft. From the early days in Korea, it became evident the aircraft, aviators and supporting
maintenance and technical personnel would have to be based at a considerable distance from the front
lines and and from their units for refueling, maintenance, supply and security reasons.

Most Army Aviation sections performed as separate units during the Korean War, assuming the
same command, logistics, security and operational responsibilities as if they were a company or higher
headquarters. The ad hoc set-ups worked well as Army Aviation proved to be a major player along with
all types of ground forces.

MISSISSIPPI READY TO REORGANIZE

There was no Army Aviation in Mississippi during 1951 and until July 1952. At that time thc
168th Engineer Battalion was assigned one L 19 Birddog aircraft. st Lt. John O'Keefe, a full time
employee of the Adjutant's General Staff and former "Flying Sergeant” Liaison Pilot in World War 11,
was assigned as the aviator for the Battalion. Sgt Alfred McLendon was cmployed as a full time
maintenance technician to service the L19, which was based at Hawkins Field in Jackson. Upon return
of most troops from active duty by January 1953, recorganization was begun.






1951-52

An air view of a field artillery
battalion area at Camp Gordon,
Georgia during a training exercise.

1-LT Hugh Ketchum briefs the
mechanics on the day’s activities
during training at Fort Jackson,
S. C.in 1951

1-LT Billy McMasters, with : e

his Dixie Rebel cap, is ready Sgt Murray Maxwell of Starkville
for an L-16 flight from Fi. was a mechanic for the 932nd Field
Jackson in 1951. Artillery Battalion during the time
: ‘ the 31st Division was on active duty
in1951-52.

At left is Ellis “Scotty” Self, of
Starkville,who went on active duty with
the 932nd Field Artillery Battalion

‘and completed aircraft and engine
mechanic school while on active duty.







CHAPTER 111

PoOST KOREA
REORGANIZATION

1953 - 1959

The Mississippi Aviation program was reorganized in
early 1953 at Hawkins Field in Jackson, with Cpt Fred
Theisman, who had been the full time director of the
Grenada facility, as the maintenance support director.-

Six of the ten aviators in the onginal Mississippt aviation
program rejoined during the reorganization.

During this period of tine, the program utilized L. 19
Birddogs. L 20 Beavers, L 17 Navions and OH 3 Bell
helicopters. The first helicopter in the Mississippi
program arrivaed tn 1954,

In 1955 Cpt. Theisman retumned to active duty and Cpt
John O’Keefe took over as director of the Hawkins Field

facility,

By 1958, 40 aviators had joined the program and six
were helicopter qualified.



HISTORY OIF ARMY AVIATION 1IN MISSISSHPIPH

CHAPTER I1I - POST KOREA REORGANIZATION - 1953 - 1959

The Mississippi Part of the 31st Division and other National Guard units were reorganized in
early 1953 following their release from active duty during the Korean War. The Mississippi Army
Aviation Support Facility was also reorganized to service the aircraft for the various units authorized
organic aviation.

CPT THEISMAN DIRECTOR OF REORGANIZED SUPPORT FACILITY

Fred Theisman Jesse Strider Alfred McLendon

Cpt Fred Theisman, who had been the director of the Support Facility in Grenada prior to
activiation of the National Guard units for the Korean War, returned as the full time director of the
reorganized facility in Jackson. Sgt Alfred McLendon, who had been the full time maintenance
technician for the one L 19 aircraft since mid - 1952, and Sgt Jesse Strider, who had been one of the full
time mechanics with the aviation program in Grenada and who had served with the 31st Division Air
Section on active duty, were employed as the full time technicians.

FACILITY LOCATED NORTH SIDE HAWKINS FIELD

Mississippi’s Aviation Program, originally organized at the Grenada Airport in 1948, was

reorganized in early 1953 at Hawkins Field in Jackson. The facility used a metal building located in the
northwest corner of the field.

The metal hangar is shown in

the top right corner of the picture to
the left.

Aircraft parking space s
shown to the right of the hangar. Taxi
access from the parking area was
available to the north-south runway.







O'KEEFE NAMED DIRECTOR SUPPORT FACILITY IN 1955

Beginning in 1955, Army Aviation in Mississippt experienced steady growth. More atrcraft
were received at the Jackson Support facility and more aviators joined the various units authorized

organic aviation. In another major change, the Division Artillery headquarters was moved from
Greenville to Columbus in January 1955.

During 1955 Cpt Theisman returned to active duty. He was replaced as
the full time director of the Jackson Support Facility by Ist Lt John O'Keefe,
who was a member of the Adjutant General's staff at the time.

Under his direction the facility was supporting eight L 19's, one L 20

Beaver, one TL 19 instrument trainer and two OH 13 helicopters by the end of
1958.

Additional maintenance technicians were employed - Sgts Shelbon
Cotton, Wiley Isbell, Duane Townley, R. V. Wells, Bert Welch, Phillip
Cramer, Grady McDonald, William Thorn, Thomas Lucky, Ellis Self and
Bobby Ball. Sgt Robert Dreding was employed as the clerk for the facility.

John O 'Keefe

CHANGE IN ARMY ADVISORS

Another change of importance during
this era was in the Army Advisor position.

Maj Gene Chase, left, who had been
the Advisor since reorganization in 1953, was
replaced by Maj Bill Hoge, right, in 1956.

Maj Hoge remained in the Advisor
position until 1961.

ANNUAL FIELD TRAINING BEGAN AT CAMP SHELBY

During 1953 and 1954 the 3 1st Division Aviation sections participated in annual field trainirig at
Ft McClellan, Ala., with their assigned units. Aviation personncl functioned as part of the Division Air
Scction, using Rellly Field on the main post as the basc of opcrations.

Non-divisional air sections performed their two weeks of training at Camp Shelby, using a strect

adjacent to the parade ficld as the landing strip for training missions. and using Hatliesburg Municipal
Atrport for VIP and inclement weather missions.






BARREL ROLL WITH ANOH 13 HELICOPTER WAS A HIGHLIGHT

One of the highlights of the state's aviation program
during the late fifties was a barrell roll routine performed in an
OH 13 by Cpt John O'Keefe, the Jackson Support Facility
Director. The routine was performed at parades that concluded
annual field training at Camp Shelby and at some county fairs and
special events over the state.

The routine, considered one of the most difficult exercises
of helicopter flying skill, consisted of turning over a barrel,
rolling it to various points, then resetting the barrel on end.

ARMY AVIATION SCHOOL TO FT RUCKER IN 1954

One of Army Aviation’s most important events occurred in 1954 when the Army Aviation
School was moved from Ft Sill to Ft Rucker near Ozark, Ala.

The new school was located on an established base that already had adequate post, housing and
training failities, an airfield with three 5,000-foot runways, adequate hangar and maintenance facilities
and plenty of parking area for both fixed and rotary wing aircraft.

The new Aviation School absorbed the warrant officer aviator training program, which had
begun at Ft Sill in 1951. Ft Rucker graduated its first warrant officer aviator class on April 30, 1955.

OTHER STATE ACTIVITIES DURING 1953-1958

DISASTER DUTY: Army aviators and supporting personnel were used for recon and
evacuation assistance after a tornado in Vicksburg in 1954, and during the Tombigbee River flood in the
Columbus area in 1955. It was during the flood duty that an OH 13 helicopter was "dunked" in the water

during an emergency landing and an L 19 settled in the bleachers of the Mississippi State University
baseball field during an aborted landing in that area.

In 1956 several aviators and supporting personnel assisted in recon and evacuation missions
during the Leaf River flood in the Hattiesburg area. In one instance Cpt O'Keefe rescued a man, his son
and their dog from the Leaf River swamp area.

TRIP TO THE SMITHSONIAN: In 1955 two L 19's, piloted by Cpt John O'Keefe and Lt
James Gentry of Meridian, accompanied the "Ole Miss" aircraft to Washington, where the "Olec Miss"
was placed on permanent display in the Smithsonian Institute. The single engine aircraft, piloted by Al

and I'red Key of Meridian, had set a world's flight endurance record of more than 27 days aloft in 1935
to carn its place in the Smithsonian.

The mission, which attracted much attention, both in Mississippi and in Washington, went off
without incident, except for a precuationary landing in Atlanta becase of a fuel leak by “Ole Miss.”



NUMBER OF AVIATORS CONTINUED TOo GROW

By 1958 the following aviators, only six who were helicopter qualified, had been involved in or
were still in the state's Army Aviation program since it was reorganized in 1953, and served with the

units mdicated:

Hq & Hq Detach., Miss NG
Cpt John O'Keefe, Jackson*

Hq 31st Division Artillery
Cpt Fred Theisman, Grenada*
Cpt Hugh Ketchum, Grenada
Cpt Paul St John, Columbus
I Lt William Irwin, Tupelo
2 Lt Loring Tharpe, Jackson
| Lt Marshall Duncan, Jackson
2 Lt Earl Koop, Jackson
2 Lt William Thorn, Jackson*

Fq 108th Armor Cavalry Regiment
Cpt William Lewman, Summitt
Cpt Harold Godbold, McComb
Cpt Leonard Tingle, Meridian
1 Lt Winfred Moody, Meridian
1 Lt Richard Hill, Philadelphia
1 Lt Charles Nelson, Jackson
I Lt Johnny Matthews, Meridian

Hq 215th Field Artillery Group
Cpt Joel Varner, Edwards*
Cpt James Gentry, Meridian
I Lt Jesse Rogers, Tupelo
2 Lt Robert Ayers, Columbus
2 Lt Martin Hollis, Amory

Hq 750th Tank Battalion
I Lt James Coleman, Senatobia
2 Lt Lee Hamberlin, Hernando

* lelicopter qualified

Hq 932nd Field Artillery Battalion
1 Lt John Brady, Columbus
1 Lt Arthur Shaefer, Jackson*
2 Lt Ralph Bourne, Starkville

Hq 155th Infantry Regiment
Cpt Ernest Mallory, Natchez
1 Lt William Palk, Natchez*

Hq 631st Field Artillery Battalion
Cpt Hugh Garraway, Hattiesburg
1 Lt Richard Peel, Hattiesburg

Hq 234th Field Artillery Battalion
Cpt William McMasters, Grenada
1 Lt Robert Raper, Memphis

Hq 114th Field Artillery Battalion
1 Lt Gordon Casey, Greenwood
1 Lt Julius Windham, Hattiesburg
I Lt Harry Phillips, Benton

Hq 114th Engineer Battalion
'] Lt Edward Neal, Jackson
1 Lt Arthur Buckley, Rolling Fork

Hq 106th Engineer Battalion
1 Lt Clarke Ammons, Monticello
2 Lt James R. Johnson, Jackson

Hq 168th Engineer Battalion
Cpt Raymond Ray, Vicksburg



MAJOR CHANGES AT THE ARMY LEVEL 1953-58

While army aviation was in the reorganization process in Mississippi. it also was undergoing

many growing pains at the Army level, particularly in efforts to assume more control over its training
and procurement from the Air Force.

FIXED WING INSTRUMENT TRAINING: The Army fully implemented fixed wing
instrument training at Ft Sill in 1953, taking over such training from contract civilian schools which had
been on-going since 1951. TL 19 and L 20 aircraft were mostly used for the training.

ARMY GIVEN MORE CONTROL OVER HELICOPTER TRAINING: By the end of
1954 Ft Sill became the advanced training center for all single rotor helicopters and the Ft Riley,
Kansas, airfield became the training center for all tandem rotor helicopters. However, primary training
for rotary wing aircraft was still the responsibility of the Air Force.

ARMING HELICOPTERS FOR COMBAT: In 1955 the Army began serious testing of the
concept of arming helicopters for combat assault, an experiment which had begun at Ft Sill in 1950. By
September the Sky Cap Platoon had been formed to conduct the tests, which led to formation of an
Aerial Combat Recon Platoon. Five years later armed helicopters became a reality.

STILL ANOTHER ARMY-AIR FORCE AGREEMENT: The Army and Air Force came up
with still another "Memorandum of Agreement” related to the clarification of Army Aviation missions
in March of 1956. The agreement gave the Army considerable more control over its aviation program
and its missions. The most important changes gave the Army full responsibility for all phases of aviator
training and transferred depot maintenance for Army aircraft from the Air Force to the Army
Transportation Corps.

Other clarifications in the agreement included: The Army would perform all air missions within
a combat zone 100 miles forward and behind the main line of resistance with enemy forces; the Air
Force would be responsible for all air missions into and out of a combat zone; empty weight limits
would be established on Army aircraft of 7,000 pounds for fixed wing and 20,000 pounds for rotary

wing; and, the Army agreed to use existing types of aircraft where suitable, rather than developing and
procuring new types.

ARMY RESPONSIBLE FOR ALL AVIATOR TRAINING: In assuming the responsibility
for all aviator training, the Army took over Camp Wolters in Mineral Wells, Texas, and made it the
primary rotary wing training facility for warrant officers. Gary Airfield in San Marcos, Texas, became
the training site for fixed wing aviators and enlisted maintenance personnel and the primary rotary wing
training course for officers. All advanced training courses were established at Ft Rucker.
























Helicopter Takes A Dip

Two Jacksonians got wet but swdm and waded to safetv when backeround.
their helicopter went kerplunk in flood water near ©-iumbus
Thursdav. The pair had a wet journey to the farm '\ in the
110me
Camp-Shelby As.SeeniFrom'a Helicopter :%. s

Mip .S olSHn . - . ey

Thousands of Mississippi Nadional Guard men type aluminum army harrack is beii)g tesled at
were housed in this tent wrea al Camp Shetby Shelby for the first lime, as a rcplacement’sgfor
for lwo weeks summer field training.  ‘This pho- the old canvass tent, familiar o GI8.from here
lopraph was laken at a low altitude front a heli-~3 fo eternily. . (Pholo by Pl Strouge).

<opler flown by Capt. Jolin O'Keefe, A new . I LA




CHAPTER 1V

THE SEPARATE AVIATION
CoMPANY ERA

1959 - 1968

The Army Awiation program began the concept of operating as a
separate company instead of assigning two aviators, two aircraft
and one mechanic to each urut

Massissippi reorganized into parts of two companies within the
31st Division in Jackson, the 108th Awiation Company in
Tupelo, and the 123rd Awviation Company and the 1066th
Transportation Aircraft Maintenance Company in Mendian.

Full time maintenance support facilities were organized at Tupelo
and Mendian, in addition to the one at Jackson.

The 123rd Aviation Company in Mendian was called to active
duty during 1961-62 as part of the Berlin crisis. All National
Guard units in the state were federalized for several days during
an integration upnsing at Ole Miss.

In 1963 the Mississippi part of the 3 Ist Aviation Company
became a full sized company.

The Mississippi aviation program experienced its first fatal crash
in the Summer of 1966.

Seven pre-Vietnam aviators 1n the Mississipp1 program saw
combat duty in Vietnam. Two were killed in action.



HISTORY OF ARMY AVIATION IN MISSISSIPRI

CHAPTER IV - THE SEPARATE COMPANY ERA - 1959 - 1968

This eight-year era represented the "coming of age" of Army Aviation in
Mississippi as the separate aviation company concept was authorized. The new company
structure replaced the previous concept of assigning two aviators, two aircraft and one
mechanic to each battalion or higher headquarters units.

It began in May 1959 with the reorganization of the 31st Infantry Division, jointly
composed of troops from Alabama and Mississippi. The reorganization resulted in the
authorization of two separate aviation companies in the Division. Although Mississippi
did not get a full separate Division aviation company, it did get part of two companies, as
did Alabama. They were the 31st Aviation Company, (Ms Part) and Company E (Ms
Part) of the 73 1st Transportation Aircraft Maintenance (TAM) Battalion. Both units were
located in Jackson.

Under the 1959 reorganization of non-divisional units, three separate aviation
companies were also authorized. They were the the 108th Aviation Company in Tupelo,
to support the 108th Armored Cavalry Regiment, the 123rd Air Ambulance Medical
Aviation Company in Meridian to support the 213th Medical Battalion, and the 1066th
Transportation Aircraft Maintenance Company in Meridian.

Other non-divisional units were authorized aviation sections. They were the
198th Armored Regiment in Tupelo, Hq 631st Field Artillery Group in Jackson, The 2nd,
4th and 5th Battalions of the 114th Field Artillery located in Starkville, Newton and
Hattiesburg, the 168th Engineer Group in Vicksburg and the 106th Engineer Battalion in
Monticello. Aviators assigned to those units were still under the direct command and
control of the individual units, as in the past. The reorganization eliminated aviation

from the 114th and 139th Engineer Battalions in Jackson and the 750th Tank Battalion in
Greenville.

Aircraft maintenance support for the five aviation companies and the non-
divisional aviation sections was still performed by the Jackson Support Facility.

31ST RECON PERSONNEL TO AVIATION COMPANIES

Personnel to round out the state's part of the two Division aviation companies
came from the 31st Reconnaissance Company, which was disbanded during the
reorganization. (Thus the 31st Recon Company became the nucleus that later evolved
INto a separate aviation battalion, then a separate aviation group).

The two units were headquartered in an old warehouse building just south of the












123RD AVIATION COMPANY IN MERIDIAN

One of the other separate aviation companies authorized under the 1959
reorganization was the 123rd Air Ambulance Medical Aviation Company, located at
Key Field in Meridian, to support the 213th Medical Battalion. Personnel to staff the new
company came from the former Battery A, 115th Anti-Aircraft Artillery, which had been
disbanded.

Cpt James Gentry of Meridian, a WWII Army laision pilot
and one one of the original ten aviators in the Miss. Army
Aviation program, was named commander of the new company.
He had been serving with the 215th Field Artillery Group.

W/O Robert Richardson was employed as the full time
Administrative Service Technician of the company, which was
authorized 28 officers and 127 enlisted personnel.

Other aviators/officers assigned to the original 123rd
Company included:

James Gentry

Cpt Harold Godbold, McComb 1 Lt William Lewman, Summitt
1 Lt Julius Windham, Hattiesburg 1 Lt Winfred Moody, Meridian
2 Lt Arthur Shac;fer, Jackson

Other aviators/officers who joined the 123rd Aviation Company prior to its call to
active duty in 1961 included:

Cpt John Persons, Meridian Cpt Leonard Tingle, Meridian 1 Lt William Bell, Meridian

1 Lt Julian Bomar, Meridian 1 Lt Huey P. Lang, Meridian I Lt Edward Lowry, Meridian

| Lt George Messer, Meridian I Lt Winfred Moody, Meridian | Lt Harry Phillips, Jackson

1 Lt Ken Townsend, Meridian 1 Lt John Williams, Meridian 2 Lt Thomas Adams, Meridian
2 Lt William Bush, Meridian 2 Lt Billy Conlee, Meridian 2 Lt Glaston Ford, Meridian

2 Lt Wiley McCoy, Meridian 2 Lt Raymond Newell, Meridian 2 Lt Jack O’Leary, Meridian

2 Lt John Permenter, Meridian 2 Lt Ernest Ross, Meridian 2 Lt Amold Simmons, Meridian

The new company was authorized one L 19 and 4 OH 13's, representing five of
the state's 26 aircraft.

In 1961 Cpt Gentry was transferred to the 108th Aviation Company and Cpt
Leonard Tingle, who joined the unit as maintenance officer in 1960, assumed command
of the 123rd Aviation Company.






TRAINING FORMAT CHANGED TO INCLUDE SUNDAY DRILLS

As part of the 1959 reorganization, training of the newly-formed aviation units
was carried out under a new format. Instead of the four two-hour week-night drills per
month, the new format included two week-night drills per month and one all day drill on
a Saturday or Sunday each month that counted as two drill periods.

The aircraft to support the unit drills and to help the aviators meet their minimum
flight requirements were still "farmed out" to airports near the homes of the various
aviators. Aviators were still required to fly at least 100 hours per year, including 15 hours
at night, 20 hours of hood time and 20 hours of cross country, the same as the minimums
required of regular Army aviators. In addition the officer aviators had to maintain
educational requirements relative to their Army branch.

LT BURNS REPLACED CPT O'KEEFE AS FACILITY DIRECTOR IN 1960

In late 1959, Cpt John O'Keefe resigned as director of the Jackson Support
Facility to join the Mississippi Manufacturers Association, and was assigned to Hq & Hq
Detachment on the Adjutant General's staff as the non-full time state aviation officer.

In January 1960, 1st Lt James H.
Burns, who had been with the 108th ACR
Aviation Company, took over as director of
the Jackson Support Facility.

The facility had grown to ten full
time technicians and was maintaining 26
aircraft for aviators throughout the state.

James Burns
John O’Keefe

TWO ADDITIONAL SUPPORT FACILITIES AUTHORIZED IN 1961

1961 saw a major change take place in Mississippi's Army Aviation program - a
change that resulted in substantial growth in the overall program. Two additional full
time maintenance support facilities were authorized - one in Tupelo and another in
Meridian. The change was necessitated because of the magnitude of the maintenance
support program being furnished by the lone facility in Jackson.

The facility was servicing 31 aircraft, thirteen L 19’s, ten OH 13 helicopters,
seven L 20’s and one TL 19 instrument trainer. By this time the facility had lost
Maintenance Technicians Bert Welch and Shelbon Cotton, but had employed Robert
Westbrook, Jack Williams, Harold Lane, Donald Ryals and Charles Winwright.



54 AVIATORS IN PROGRAM By 1961

According to a report from 1 Lt James Burns to the Adjutant General on April 18,
1961, the following aviators were being served by the Jackson Support Facility:

Hq & Hq Detachment :
Maj John O'Keefe, Jackson

31st Aviation Company (Miss. Part)
Maj Hugh Ketchum, Grenada
Maj Joel Varner, Jackson
Cpt Ernest Mallory, Natchez
Cpt Robert Raper, Memphis
Cpt Edward Gross, Jackson
Cpt Bobby Welch, Jackson
Cpt William McMasters, Grenada
1st Lt Charles Nelson, Jackson
st Lt George Clarke, Jackson
Ist Lt Loring Tharpe, Jackson
Ist Lt William Fanning, Jackson
1st Lt Thomas Truitt, Florence
1st Lt William Irwin, Tupelo
1st Lt Henry Harvey, Tylertown
1st Lt William Palk, Natchez
1st Lt Charles Gore, Vicksburg
2nd Lt Bobby Costilow, Grenada
2nd Lt Donald Michel, Jackson
2nd Lt Herbert Marshall, Louisville
2nd Lt Albert Turnage, Monticello

Hq 631st Artillery Group
Maj Robert Pickens, Jackson
Cpt Marshall Duncan, Jackson
2nd Lt Lawrence Pierce, Gulfport

Hq 5th Bn,114th Field Artillery
Ist Lt Asa Bryant, Hattiesburg
st Lt Teddie Dale, Wiggins
Ist Lt Hugh Garraway, Hattiesburg

Hq 4th Bn 114th Field Artillery
Ist Lt John Graves, Laurel

168th Engineer Group

Cpt Raymond Ray, Vicksburg

Hq 106th Engineer Bn

Cpt Clarke Ammons, Monticello

108th ACR Avn Company

Cpt James Gentry, Meridian
Cpt Bruce McElroy, Tupelo
Cpt Jesse Rogers, Tupelo

Cpt Paul St John, Columbus
Cpt James Coleman, Senatobia
Cpt Travis Parker, Drew

Cpt Elmon Thomas, Hollandale
Cpt George Schumpert, Amory
st Lt Robert Ayers, Columbus
1st Lt James Burns, Jackson

Ist Lt Lee Hamberlin, Hernando
2nd Lt Fred Franks, Tupelo

123rd Air Ambulance Medical Company

Cpt Leonard Tingle, Meridian
Cpt John Persons, Meridian

Cpt Harry Phillips, Jackson

Cpt Harold Godbold, McComb
Cpt William Lewman, McComb
Ist Lt William Bell, Meridian
Ist Lt Winfred Moody, Meridian
Ist Lt Wiley McCoy, Meridian
2nd Lt Glaston Ford, Meridian
2nd Lt Ernest Ross, Meridian

1066th TAM Company

1st Lt John Parker, Meridian
2d Lt Robert Richardson. Meridian



123RD COMPANY CALLED TO ACTIVE DUTY IN 1961

Before the full time maintenance support facility could be established at Key FField
in Meridian, the 123rd Aviation Company was called to active duty in September 1961,
reporting to Ft Bragg, N.C., as part of the Berlin Crisis call-up.

Maj Leonard Tingle, of Meridian, who had replaced
Cpt James Gentry as commander of the unit, and who had been
employed as the full time director of the new support facility,
served as commander of the 123rd Aviation Company during
the eleven months the company was on active duty at F't Bragg.

During the period of active duty the Mississippi
aviators and the 14 fillers assigned to the company supported
the 82nd Airborne Division in medical and other evacuation
type missions, earning a commendation for their services. The
unit was released from active duty in August 1962.

Leonard Tingle

The 123¢d Aviation Company aviators joining Maj Tingle oa active duty

included:

Cpt Harold Godbold, McComb Cpt William Lewman, Summitt
Cpt John Permenter, West Point Cpt John Persons, Meridian

1 Lt Winfred Moody, Meridian 1 Lt Kenneth Townsend, DeKalb
1 Lt William Bell, Macon 1 Lt Julian Bomar, Meridian

1 Lt Glaston Ford, Meridian 1 Lt George Messer, Meridian

1 Lt Huey Lang, Meridian 1 Lt Edward Lowry, Meridian

2 Lt Thomas Adams, Yazoo City 2 Lt Ernest Ross, Toomsuba

2 Lt John Williams, Meridian

123rRD COMPANY REORGANIZED IN 1962

Following the 11-month tour of active duty, the 123rd Aviation Company was
reorganized in late 1962 at Meridian, with Maj Leonard Tingle as the company
commander. All of the aviators who were on active duty rejoined the company, except
Cpt John Persons, 1 Lt Glaston Ford and 2 Lt Huey Lang. They remained on active duty.

Sgt Edward Fuller was employed as the AST for the company, until he was
replaced by CW2 Wayne Wahrendorf in a 1963 reorganization.

In 1963, the 1066th Transportation Aircraft Maintenance Company, which had

been operating at Key Field in Meridian since 1959, was merged into the 123rd Aviation
Company.






ALL UNITS ON ACTIVE DUTY IN 1962

While the process of restructuring and organizing the additional maintenance
support facilities in Tupelo and Meridian was going on, all Mississippi National Guard
units were placed on active duty on September 30, 1962, by President John Kennedy.
The call-up was to remove the Guard units from state control when the Federal
Government took over the effort to enroll James Merideth as the first black at the
University of Mississippi in Oxford.

The 108th Armored Cavalry Regiment, composed of North Mississippi units, was
in the forefront of the effort to contain the rioting in Oxford even before the Guard was
placed on active duty. The unit continued to bear the brunt of the riot containment even
after the Federal Government took charge of the situation.

The 108th Aviation Company was involved in a week-end drill at the Fairgrounds
Complex in Tupelo and at the Tupelo Airport when the Regimental headquarters ordered
the company to move to Oxford on Sunday morning, October 1. The company reported
to the Oxford armory while the aircraft and supporting personnel moved to the Oxford
airport.

108TH AVIATION COMPANY HELPED CONTAIN RIOTERS

Later in the afternoon, members of
the aviation company were ordered to
contain rioters at an intersection near the
Ole Miss campus. Each member of the
task force was issued three rounds of
ammunition since the situation had gotten
out of hand as the rioters hurled bricks,
bottles and other Ob_]CCtS at all military personnel and vehicles, injuring many individuals
and causing considerable damage to military equipment, as shown above left.

The aviation company
was successful in containing the
rioters at the intersection
assigned to the unit.

Aviators and supporting
personnel who had moved from
Tupelo to the Oxford airport
were unable to get to the armory
and did not become involved in
the containment of the rioters
near the campus. Later in the day, as Tedcral troops took over the airport, all aviation
troops and equipment were moved to the former Oxford airport south of the city. The




company's basc operations were set-up at that site and courier missions and riot control
training werc carried out during the 26 days the company was on active duty as part of the
CISIS.

Following the 108th Aviation Company's involvement in the Ole Miss rioting, Cpt
McElroy issued this letter report to his parent unit:

AVIATION COMPANY
108TII ARMORED CAVALRY
OXFORD, MISSISSIPPE

3 October 1962

At approximately 1600 hours on 1 October 1962, my company, along with another unit, was given the mission to capture a
large number of rioters at an intersection. This mob had been throwing bricks, bottles and other objects at every military vehicle that
passed, breaking glass and injuring the occupants. As we dismounted, prior to reaching the intersection, bricks and bottles were
huried at us. The mob then began to form in depth and was going to make a stand.

My men were not armed with bayonets, this the mob could sce. My commander, Colonel Martin, had given us orders to
fire if it became necessary to protect my men from bodily harm. Upon approaching the mob, dodging the objects, it became evident

that my men were in danger without means to protect themselves. | gave the order to Lt Howard to fire a round in the air. This he did
and approximately 15 rounds were fired

Thus we were able to take 1n custody 42 of the mob without a single injury to them.

Upon interrogation, it was found that only two were from Oxford. The remainder were from other points of this state and
adjoining states

BRUCE McELROY
Capt, Armor
Commanding

ARMY AVIATION HELPED IN "OPERATION CHLORINE" IN 1962

No sooner was the "Ole Miss crisis" over when another crisis developed. Five
days after most units were released from the Ole Miss federalization, Adjutant General
William Wilson issued a call to Guard troops for state duty in Natchez. The mission was
to devise and operate a warning system to all residents within a 25-mile semicircle east of
the Mississippi river near Natchez where the Corps of Engineers would be attempting to
remove four sunken barges containing nearly two and one-half million pounds of chlorine
gas liquedfied by pressure. The aviation mission was part of an overall plan to evacuate
about 80,000 residents of the area in event there were gas leaks during the removal of the
tanks.

By October 13 "Operation Chlorine” was in full swing, including army aviation's
role. Maj John O'Keefe, the state aviation officer, was placed in charge of the aviation
mission at the Natchez Air Park, a small private sod strip at the cast edge of the city. The
31st Aviation Company (Miss. Part) provided the bulk of the aircraft, awiators and
support personnel for the round the clock operation, however other volunteers came {rom
the 123rd Air Ambulance Aviation Company, the 1060th Transportation Company, the
aviation sections of the 114th Field Artillery, and even from the 108th Aviation Company
after it was released from the Ole Miss duty. Atrcraft utlized were 10 L 19 Birddogs, two
L. 20 Beavers and five OH 23 Hiller helicopters.



During the 22-day mission, the
army aviators rehearsed and finalized
an air warning system in pre-
established sectors of  the area,
operating from a field headquarters
tent shown at left.

Loudspeakers and sirens were

bolted to the wings of the L 19's.

Brackets also were available to carry

® and release one million candle power

flares to aid in evacuation during the hours of darkness. One helicopter was assigned to

the river bank near the removal site to trigger immediately the air warning system in event
there was a leak.

"Operation Chlorine" came to an end November 4 when the four tanks were
removed from the bottom of the Mississippi river without any leakage.

PLANS BEGAN TO DEVELOP AIRFIELD AT CAMP SHELBY

In a December 1962 letter, General Pat Wilson named a committee to develop
plans for an airfield at Camp Shelby to replace the make-shift airstrip in the motor
pool/tank park area near the main post.

Ltc Haskell Vance was named chairman of the committee. Other members of the
committee were: Ltc Julius Ervin, Maj John O’Keefe, Cpt Rea Stribling, Cpt E. V.
Coombs, Cpt James Burns and Army Aviation Advisor Donald Prim.

Construction of the airfield was to be an Engineer unit training project, with a
scheduled completion date of 1969.

DIvISION GOT FuLL AVIATION COMPANY IN 1963

Still another reorganization of National Guard units occurred in early 1963,
including a reorganization of the 31st Infantry Division units. The 31st Aviation
Company, which had been a split unit between Alabama and Mississippi, was assigned to
Mississippi, giving the state a full separate Division aviation company. Co E TAM
remained as a split company between the two states.

The two units moved from the old warechouse building to a quonset type building
behind the hangar housing the Jackson Maintenance Support Facility at Hawkins Field.
The building provided adequatce space for headquarters offices, supplv rooms, classrooms
and a motor pool on the north side of the building.






REORGANIZATION INCREASED MAJOR SLOTS

The 1963 reorganization authorized four instead of two non-full time major aviator
slots in the program. They were the commanders of the three aviation companies and the
Division Artillery Aviation Officer. With Maj Varner's move to commanding officer of
the 31st Aviation Company, the other non full time major slots were filled as follows:

Cpt Bruce McElroy, commander of the 108th Aviation Company in Tupelo was
promoted to major and continued to command the company.

Maj Leonard Tingle, commander of the 123rd Air Ambulance Aviation
Company, and full time director of the Meridian Support Facility, had been promoted to
major in 1962. He continued to command the company.

Maj Hugh Ketchum, who had been serving as the 31Ist Division (Miss. Part)
Aviation Officer since 1959, became the 3lst Division Artillery Aviation Officer with the
Grenada headquarters unit. The following year he transferred to 3 1st Division Artillery
S4 slot in an excess aviator status and Cpt Robert Raper was promoted to major and
became the Division Artillery Aviation Officer.

1963 REORGANIZATION BEGAN WEEK-END DRILLS

The 1963 reorganization also marked the beginning of a major change in the
manner that all National Guard units were trained. Instead of two week-night two-hour
drills per month and one all day Sunday drill, the training format was changed into one
Saturday and Sunday drill per month, equivalent to four drill periods.

Effective July 1, 1964 the Army authorized 24 additional flight training periods
(AFTP's) to assist aviators in meeting their annual flight minimum requirements. The
additional periods, which were voluntary, enabled aviators to accumulate 72 paid drills
during a year. Each period had to include at least two hours training.

Two years later, in a letter dated November 3, 1966, the Adjutant General’s office
ordered an end to the practice of “farming out” aircraft. The letter required all aircraft to
be returned immediately to the appropriate support facility except: (a) aircraft could be
pre-positioned by units requiring aviation support during multiple training assemblies;
and (b) aviators could remain over night to accomplish cross country training missions.

CpT WELCH NAMED STANDARDIZATION OFFICER

Cpt Bobby Welch was employed as a full time standardization officer at the
Jackson Support Iacility in 1963 and in 1966 Cpt John Parker was employed in a similar

position with the Meridian Support Facility. Cpt  Albert Turnage was employed at the
Jackson Facility in 1966.












Cpt John Persons served in
Vietnam in 1965-66, assigned to the 498th
Air Ambulance Aviation Company. He
served a second tour in 1968-69, first with
the 45th Medical Company Aviation
Section, then as commander of the 283rd
Air Ambulance Company. He retired from
active duty in 1976 as a Lt Colonel and
resides in Scooba.

Lt Huey Lang also served with the
John Persons 498th Air Ambulance Avn Co in  Vietnam
in 1965-66. He served a second tour in

Huey Lang

1968-69 when he commanded the 45th Medical Avn Co. He retired from active duty in

1980 as a Lt Colonel and resides in Meridian.

Lt Billy Percival of Grenada
joined  the 3lst Division Aviation
Company in 1963 and completed flight
training in 1964. In 1965 he transferred
to the Marines and qualified as a naval
aviator. He served with the Marines in
Vietnam in 1969. He retired as a full
Colonel and resides in Pensacola , Fla.

1 Lt Edward Lowry joined a
Reserve unit in Laurel after leaving the

. _ 123rd. He volunteered for active duty
Billy Percival and served in Vietnam in 1966-67 with

Edward Lowry

the 1st Division Aviation Battalion. He served a second tour in
Vietnam in 1968-69 with the 101st Airborne Division Aviation Company. He retired as a

Lt Colonel and resides in Madison.

transferred to STARC headquarters.

George Walker

1 Lt George Walker of Coldwater, while a member of the
108th Aviation Company, went on active duty in 1967-68, serving
with the 185th Aviation Company in Vietnam.

He served a second tour of duty in 1970-71 as a member of
the 173rd OV-1 (Mohawk) Aviation Company.

He later commanded the 131st Aviation Battalion and the
[85th Aviation Group In the Miss. program, before being






OTHER AVIATION ACTIVITIES DURING 1959 - 1968

ANNUAL FIELD TRAINING: During 1959 - 1963, the Mississippi part of the
two aviation companies participated in annual field training at Ft McClellan, Ala., along
with the 31st Division. During the second week of each year's training, six L 19's, an L
20 and a helicopter would be dispatched to Camp Shelby where the Division's artillery
units were training. During the remaining years of the period, ending in 1967, all
Mississippi aviation units performed AFT at Camp Shelby.

AVIATORS HELP AFTER HURRICANE BETSY: In Septemer 1965 when
Hurricane Betsy hit the New Orleans area, the Louisiana National Guard did not have
qualified aviators to fly their aircraft for emergency assistance. Hq & Hq Detachment of
the Mississippi National Guard arranged to transfer Maj Leonard Tingle and Cpt John
Parker of the 123rd Medical Aviation Company in Meridian to the Louisiana National

Guard for temporary duty that allowed them to fly the emergency missions.

ROSTER OF AVIATORS AT END OF 1967

Hq & Hq Detachment
Lic John O"Keefe, Jackson

HHC 31st Infantry Div.
Ltc Joel Varner, Jackson

31st Aviation Company
Maj James Coleman, Clinton
Cpt James Bumns, Jackson
Cpt Arthur Farmer, C. Springs
Cpt William Hodnett, Vicksburg
Cpt William Palk, Natchez
Cpt Emest Mallory, Natchez
Cpt Thomas Truitt, Florence
Cpt Loring Tharpe, Jackson
Cpt Albert Tumage, Monticello
Cpt Billy McMasters, Grenada
Cpt Robert Gardner, Jackson
Cpt Henry Harvey, Tylertown
| Lt George Clarke, Jackson
| Lt James Davis, Starkville
1 Lt Bobby Krohn, Corinth
1 Lt James Norman, fackson
I Lt Robert Taylor, Greenvilie
CW?2 Henry Hawes, Tenn.
CW2 Harold Godbold, McComb
CW2 Walter Miley, Monticello
CW?2 Billy Sexton, Slidell, La.
CW2 Marshall Duncan, Jackson
CW2 Paui Kelly, Jackson
WO Wade Berry, Texas
WO Robert Caldwell, Ft Rucker
WO Roy Matthews, Jackson
WO Thomas Mcthvin, Jackson

Hq 31st Div. Artillery
Ltc Hugh Ketchum, Jackson
Maj Robert Raper, Memphis
Cpt Richard Forbes, Grenada
1 Lt William Percival, Grenada
2 Lt Tommy Christopher, Grenada
WO Ray Carroll, Grenada
WO Sterling Mays, Grenada

Hq 3rd Brigade, 31st Division
WO George Perdue, Jackson

Co E, 731st Maint. Bn., 31st Div.
Cpt Bobby Welch, Jackson

Hgq 631st Field Artillery Group
Cpt Hugh Garraway, Hattiesburg

Hq 4th Bn, 114th Field Artillery
Cpt Jack Davis, Jackson

Hgq 5th Bn, 114th Field Artillery
Cpt Asa Bryant, Hattiesburg
Cpt Teddic Dale, Wiggins

Hq Co. 168th Engincer Group
Cpt Charles Gore, Vicksburg

Hq Co, 890th Engincer Battalion
2 Lt Kenneth Mitchell, Jackson
CW2 Robert Housley, Jackson

Hgq 106th Engineer Battalion
Ma) Clarke Ammons, Monticello

102nd Public Information Detachment
Cpt Robert Hutson, Jackson

108th Armor Cavalry Aviation Company
Maj Bruce McElroy, Baldwyn
Cpt Jesse Akers, Greenville
Cpt Robert Ayers, Columbus
Cpt Fred Franks. Saltillo
Cpt Martin Hollis, Tupelo
Cpt Dwight Spearman, Alabama
Cpt Lee Hamberlin, Hernando
Cpt Bill Hendrix, Memphis
Cpt James Gentry, Meridian
| Lt Lawrence Little. Macon
I Lt George Walker, Coldwater
CW2 Olen Kelley, Columbus
CW?2 George Schumpert, Amory

123rd Medical Aviation Company
Mayj Leonard Tingle. Meridian
Cpt William Bell, Meridian
Cpt Joseph Hans, Meridian
Cpt Wilham Lewman, McComb
Cpt John Parker. Meridian
Cpt John Permenter. West Point
Cpt Robert Richardson. Meridian
I Lt George Messer. Meridian
1 Lt Kenneth Townsend, Meridian
I Lt P. S Garner, Jr.. Mendian
1 Lt Larry Knight, Jackson
2 Lt Julian Bomar, Meridian
2 Lt fra Morgan, Mendian
2 Lt Charles Chisolm. Mendian
2 L.t George Godwin, Meridian



1959 1968

The L 19 (O 1A) Birddog continued to be the workhorse of

the

The OH 13 Bell helicopter was used by
aviators during this era until 1962

The CH 34 was used from the late 60’s
until the mid-70’s, primarily by the Air

Cpt Emest Mallory, right, an aviator with
the 31st Division Aviation Company in the
1959-67 cra is shown with Sgt Jimmy

The L 20 (U6) Beaver was used for VIP mussions and for
instrument flight training during the 1959-68 time period

The OH 23 Hiller replaced the OH
13 in 1962 and remained in use until
the early 70’s

The UH 19 Sikorsky helicopter
replaced the OH 23 Hillers in the late
60’s and remained until the early 70’s

Change in Adjutant Generals In 1964

Gen Walter Johnson, above, a
former pilot during World War 11,
replaced Gen Pat Wilson as Adjutant
General  in 1964, and  was

Gen Pat Wilson, who had been
Adjutant General since 1947, and
sincc the Army Aviation Program
was founded, was replaced by Gen
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